COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT

BETWEEN

INTERNATIONAL CINEMATOGRAPHER'S GUILD LOCAL 669 OF THE INTERNATIONAL ALLIANCE OF THEATRICAL STAGE EMPLOYEES, ARTISTS, AND ALLIED CRAFTS OF THE UNITED STATES AND CANADA

(HEREINAFTER REFERRED TO AS "THE EMPLOYER")

AND



(HEREINAFTER REFERRED TO AS "THE UNION")

JUNE 1, 2020 – MAY 31, 2023

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE 1 - PURPOSE
ARTICLE 2 - BARGAINING UNIT AND RECOGNITION1
ARTICLE 3 - UNION SECURITY
ARTICLE 4 - EMPLOYER RIGHTS
ARTICLE 5 - DEFINITION OF EMPLOYEES
ARTICLE 6 - UNION REPRESENTATION
ARTICLE 7 - HOURS OF WORK AND OVERTIME
ARTICLE 8 - STATUTORY HOLIDAYS
ARTICLE 9 - ANNUAL VACATIONS
ARTICLE 10 - LEAVE OF ABSENCE
ARTICLE 11 - SICK LEAVE
ARTICLE 12 - BENEFITS
ARTICLE 13 - WAGES
ARTICLE 14 - SENIORITY
ARTICLE 15 - JOB POSTING AND JOB AWARDS
ARTICLE 16 - LAY-OFF AND RECALL
ARTICLE 17 - GENERAL
ARTICLE 18 - DISCIPLINE AND DISCHARGE
ARTICLE 19 – GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE
ARTICLE 20 - HEALTH AND SAFETY
ARTICLE 21 - TECHNOLOGICAL, PROCEDURAL, ORGANIZATIONAL CHANGES
ARTICLE 22 - BULLYING & HARASSMENT
ARTICLE 23 - DURATION
APPENDIX A – WAGE SCHEDULE
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #1
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #2
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #3
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #4
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #5

ARTICLE 1 - PURPOSE

1.01

The purpose of this Agreement is to maintain a harmonious relationship between the Employer and its employees; to define clearly the hours of work, rates of pay and conditions of employment; to provide for an amicable method of settling differences which may arise from time to time and to promote the mutual interest of the Employer and its employees and to promote and maintain such conditions of employment.

1.02

Wherever the singular or feminine is used in this Agreement the same shall be construed as meaning the plural or masculine unless the context or Parties require otherwise.

1.03

The Parties hereto subscribe to the principles of the right to be treated with dignity, respect and courtesy as a fundamental basis of a working relationship.

ARTICLE 2 - BARGAINING UNIT AND RECOGNITION

2.01

The Employer recognizes the Union as the sole bargaining authority for all employees in its offices in British Columbia and within the classification of office and clerical workers listed in Appendix" A and B". Should new classifications be required, wages and duties shall be established by the Parties pursuant to Article 13. It is expressly agreed that this Agreement shall not apply to any elected or appointed officer, business agent or representative of the Employer.

2.02

No employees will be required or permitted to make a written or verbal agreement with the Employer or his/her representative which may conflict with or vary with the terms of this Collective Agreement.

2.03

It shall not be a violation of this Agreement or cause for discharge of any employee, in the performance of her duties, to refuse to cross a picket line.

2.04

Shop Stewards, Local Executive Officers, and National Representatives of the Union shall be recognized by the Employer in discussing any and all matters affecting the relationship between the Employer and its employees, and the Union and its members, who are affected by this Agreement.

2.05

No work which is or could be properly or customarily performed by employees within the bargaining unit covered by this Agreement shall be sub-contracted by the Employer to any shop, agency or person outside the bargaining unit unless previously agreed upon by the Employer and the Union.

2.06

Members of the Executive Board, members of IATSE 669 or excluded employees will not perform work ordinarily performed by members of the bargaining unit, except as incidental to their responsibilities.

ARTICLE 3 - UNION SECURITY

3.01

All employees at the date of signing this Agreement who are covered by the Certification shall be required to become and remain Union members as a condition of employment.

3.02

As a condition of employment, employees covered by the Certification who are hired after the signing of this Agreement shall become Union members within two (2) weeks from their date of hire.

3.03

The Employer agrees to deduct the amount authorized as Union dues, initiation and/or assessments and to transmit the monies so collected once each month to the Secretary-Treasurer of the Union by the fifteenth (15th) of the following month, together with a list of employees from whom such deductions were made.

3.04

Upon request, the Employer shall provide the Union, within five working days, all necessary information relating to the following matters for all employees covered by this Agreement on a current basis:

A list of employees showing their names, addresses, and employment status ranked accordingly to seniority.

3.05

The Employer agrees to acquaint new employees with the fact that a Union Agreement is in effect and with the conditions of employment set out in the articles dealing with the Union Security.

3.06

The Employer or his Representative shall make known to all employees their duties and from whom they shall receive instructions as to the policies and procedures of the establishment.

ARTICLE 4 - EMPLOYER RIGHTS

4.01

The Union recognizes the rights of the Employer to hire and promote and to discipline or discharge any employee for just and reasonable cause subject to the provisions of this Agreement, the principles of progressive discipline and the right of the Union or employees to grieve as provided in Articles 18 and 19. The Union further agrees that the Employer has the right to maintain reasonable rules and regulations as it sees fit in the attempt to run the Local so long as those rules and regulations do not contravene this Collective Agreement. Further, the Employer agrees to maintain these rules and regulations in the form of a written policy manual, which shall be updated regularly and a copy of all such amendments shall be forwarded to the Union Local or Chief Shop Steward.

ARTICLE 5 - DEFINITION OF EMPLOYEES

5.01 PROBATIONARY PERIOD

All new employees, except temporary employees (see Section 5.03(a)), shall be considered probationary for sixty (60) days worked or one hundred and twenty (120) calendar days, whichever comes first. The employee agrees to adhere to a constructive evaluation process that shall include consultation with the bargaining unit. Probationary employees shall only be terminated for (a lesser standard of) just cause.

5.02 REGULAR

A regular employee is any person employed on a regularly scheduled continuous basis whose duties fall within the bargaining unit as defined in Article 2 of this Agreement and who has completed the probationary period.

5.03 TEMPORARY

- (a) A temporary employee is one so informed by the Employer at the start of employment. A temporary employee is a person who is hired for a fixed term to replace a bargaining unit employee absent on vacation, leave, prolonged sickness, or for a specific project or temporary high-volume work load relief. A temporary employee reclassified to regular status without a break in employment will have rights under this Collective Agreement based on seniority dated from the first day of the last period of temporary employment. Breaks of thirty (30) calendar days or less between temporary employment shall not be considered a break in employment.
- (b) The Employer agrees that temporary employees will be used in relief capacities, but will not be used to displace or cover full-time positions/employees with the exception of Section 5.03(a).
- (c) Temporary employees shall receive ten percent (10%) in addition to their wages as per Appendix A on each pay cheque. This shall be inclusive of vacation pay, and in lieu of retirement payments, all health and welfare benefits, and paid sick days.

5.04 PART-TIME EMPLOYEES

The Employer shall have the right to hire part-time Administrative Assistants as long as the Employer maintains a ratio of one (1) part time employee for every three (3) full-time employees. All full-time employees will be guaranteed eight (8) hours per day, forty (40) hours per week (unless otherwise mutually agreed to between the parties), while part time employees will be guaranteed a minimum of four (4) hours per shift when scheduled to work, with a guarantee of twenty (20) hours per week.

ARTICLE 6 - UNION REPRESENTATION

6.01

The Employer shall recognize the Representative(s) selected by the Union for purposes of collective bargaining, Agreement administration and general Union business, as the sole and exclusive Representative(s) of all employees within the bargaining unit as defined in Article 2 of this Agreement.

6.02

The Representative(s) of the Union shall have the right to contact the employees at their place of employment regarding this Collective Agreement. Union meetings shall be conducted on the employee's own time and the office and its facilities, when agreed to by the Employer, shall be

made available to the Union for those purposes. Such agreement shall not be unreasonably denied.

6.03

The Employer shall recognize the Representative(s) elected or appointed by the Union and shall not discharge, discipline or otherwise discriminate against such Representative(s) for carrying out the duties proper to the position.

6.04

The Representative(s) may, within reason, investigate and process grievances or confer with members of the Union during regular working hours, without loss of pay.

6.05

The Employer shall not discharge, discipline or otherwise discriminate against any member of the Union for participation in or for action on behalf of the Union, or for the exercise of rights provided by this Agreement.

6.06

In the event that an employee becomes elected or appointed to represent the Union in meetings of Unifor, its affiliated or chartered bodies, and any labour organization with which the Union is affiliated, he/she may be granted a leave of absence to attend Union meetings during working hours, providing the employee requests such time off at least five (5) working days in advance. Such time off must be authorised in advance by the Employer. Leave requests shall not be unreasonably denied. Such time off shall be with full benefits but without pay.

6.07 LEAVE OF ABSENCE FOR FULL-TIME UNION OF PUBLIC DUTIES

- 1) The Employer recognizes the right of an employee to participate in public affairs. Therefore, upon fifteen (15) working days written notice to the Employer, the Employer shall allow leave of absence without pay, but without loss of benefits, for thirty (30) calendar days so the employee may be a candidate in federal, provincial, or municipal elections.
- 2) An employee who is elected to public office shall be allowed leave of absence without loss of seniority during his/her terms of office.
- 3) An employee who is elected or selected for a full-time position with the Union, or anybody with whom the Union is affiliated, shall be granted leave of absence without loss of seniority for a period of one (1) year. Such leave shall be renewed each year, on request, during his/her appointment or term of office.

6.08 UNION BARGAINING COMMITTEE

One elected or appointed employee will comprise the Union Bargaining Committee and shall be permitted to participate in negotiations relative to the negotiation of this Collective Agreement, without loss of pay or other benefits. In preparation for the negotiations, a leave of one (1) working day with pay shall be permitted. (This leave is outside of the leave as provided for in Clause 6.06). The employees shall be elected or appointed by the Constitution and By-Laws of the Unifor Local 3000.

6.09 WOMEN'S ADVOCATE

The parties recognize that female employees may sometimes need to discuss with another woman matters such as violence or abuse at home or workplace harassment. They may also need

to find out about specialized resources in the community such as counselors or women's shelters to assist them in dealing with these and other issues.

For this reason, the parties agree to recognize the role of a Women's Advocate in the workplace. The Women's Advocate will be determined by the Union from amongst the female bargaining unit employees. The Advocate will meet with female members as required, discuss problems with them and refer them to the appropriate agency when necessary.

The Employer agrees to provide access to a confidential phone line and voice mail that can be maintained by the Women's Advocate and that is accessible for female employees to contact the Women's Advocate. As well, the Employer will provide access to a private office so that confidentiality can be maintained when a female employee is meeting with the Women's Advocate.

The Employer and the Union will develop appropriate communications to inform female employees about the advocacy role of the Women's Advocate providing contact numbers to reach the Women's Advocate. Unifor will also assign one of the Employer's support staff to assist the advocate in her role.

The Women's Advocate will participate in an initial forty (40)-hour basic training program and an annual three (3) day update training program delivered by the Unifor National Women's Department.

The Employer agrees to pay for lost time, including travel time, registration costs, lodging, transportation, meals and other reasonable expenses where necessary.

ARTICLE 7 - HOURS OF WORK AND OVERTIME

7.01 REGULAR WORK DAY

A regular work day shall consist of eight (8) consecutive hours between 09:00 hours and 17:00 hours inclusive two (2), fifteen (15) minute paid rest periods and one (1), thirty (30) minute lunch break. Employees scheduled to work less than the regular workday shall receive paid breaks as per the following:

4-hour shift includes 1 X 15-minute paid rest period 5-hour shift includes 2 X 15-minute paid rest periods

6 hour shift includes 2 X 15-minute paid rest periods

6-hour shift includes 2 X 15-minute paid rest periods

7-hour shift includes 1 X 15-minute paid rest period and 1 x 30-minute paid lunch break

An employee may combine one (1) or both of the rest period(s) with the lunch break with reasonable communication to other staff and the Business Agent and/or Employer, to ensure reasonable coverage of duties.

The Employer may request employees to work through their lunch break. Such instances must be mutually agreed to and a mutually agreed to hot meal must be provided.

7.02

Hours of work or relief periods as provided in Article 7.01 may be varied subject to mutual agreement between the Employer, Shop Steward, and employees so affected.

7.03 REGULAR WORK WEEK

A regular workweek shall consist of five (5) workdays, Monday to Friday, unless otherwise mutually agreed to between the parties.

7.04 OVERTIME PREMIUMS

All time worked in excess of Article 7.01 shall be subject to the following overtime rates:

Between 8 and 11 hours:	150% of appropriate hourly rate
In excess of 11 hours:	200% of appropriate hourly rate

7.05

All time worked on Saturday shall be considered overtime and paid at the rate of one hundred fifty percent (150%) of the employee's hourly rate. All time worked on Sunday shall be considered overtime and paid at the rate of two hundred percent (200%) of the employee's hourly rate. Work performed on a Saturday or Sunday shall receive a minimum of four (4) hours pay at the appropriate overtime rate. Should work exceed four (4) hours, a minimum of eight (8) hours pay shall apply.

7.06

All employees requested to work beyond the regular work day shall be allowed one (1,) fifteen (15) minute paid rest period for every two (2) hours, or portion thereof, of overtime. The rest period(s) may be combined and/or taken before, during or after the overtime work as may be appropriate and mutually agreed.

7.07

All employees who are called back to work outside the regular working day, other than for regularly scheduled overtime, shall receive a minimum of four (4) hours pay at two hundred percent (200%), provided the employee reports for such work.

7.08

Overtime may be refused due to legitimate and reasonable prior engagements.

7.09

Employees who work overtime may elect to take time off in lieu of overtime pay but such time off must be taken at a time mutually agreed upon with the Employer. The length of time off with pay shall be equal to the straight time equivalent to the overtime hours. Upon five (5) written days notice, employees may request that their banked overtime be paid out on the upcoming pay cheque.

7.10

Paid sick leave or extended sick leave shall not reduce overtime pay earned during a regular workday or workweek during which such sick leave occurred.

7.11

All overtime must be pre-authorised by Employer Representative.

7.12

Any accrued overtime to an employee's credit will be paid out in full to the employee's estate upon termination or death.

ARTICLE 8 - STATUTORY HOLIDAYS

8.01

The Employer agrees to provide all employees with the following statutory holidays without loss of pay;

New Year's Day	Canada Day
BC Family Day	B.C. Day
Good Friday	Labour Day
Easter Monday	Thanksgiving Day
Victoria Day	Remembrance Day

and any other day that may be stated a legal holiday by the Provincial and/or Federal Government Territorial or Civic Holidays, when declared, shall be provided to the employees working in the said location when the holiday is declared. The Employer further agrees that should any of the above statutory holidays fall on either a Saturday or a Sunday, and no other day is proclaimed by Government in lieu thereof, the employee shall receive an additional day or days off, with pay, to be taken the working days immediately following the statutory holiday(s).

8.02

No employee shall be required to work on a statutory holiday or any day in lieu thereof, with the exception of Easter Monday. Should the Employer request an employee to work on a statutory holiday other than Easter Monday, the employee shall receive one hundred and fifty percent (150%) of the appropriate hourly rate in addition to a banked day off with full pay, provided the employee reports for such work. The banked day off shall be taken at a time mutually agreed upon by the Employer and the employee.

8.03

Where an employee is required to work on Easter Monday, straight time rates will apply, although the employee shall receive an additional banked day off with full pay which shall be taken at a time mutually agreed upon by the Employer and the employee. If the Employer requests an employee to work on a banked day off overtime rates will apply.

8.04

In the event any of the holidays enumerated in Article 8.01 occur during the period of an employee's vacation an additional day's vacation with pay shall be allowed for each holiday so occurring.

8.05

Employees who do not have a regular work week as per clause 7.03;

- (a) and have worked at least fifteen (15) of the last thirty (30) days before a statutory holiday shall receive pay by dividing the employee's total wages excluding overtime wages, for the thirty (30) day period by the number of days worked.
- (b) and who have worked less than fifteen (15) of the last thirty (30) days before a statutory holiday shall receive pay by dividing the employee's total wages, excluding overtime wages, for the thirty (30) day period by fifteen (15).

8.06

The workplace shall be closed on Christmas Eve day through to and including the New Year's Day statutory holiday without loss of pay to employees. For the purposes of this Agreement these days shall be considered statutory holidays.

ARTICLE 9 - ANNUAL VACATIONS

9.01

- (a) Upon completion of twelve (12) months continuous service, an employee shall be entitled to receive a paid vacation of ten (10) working days. Payment for such vacation period shall be at the employee's current wage rate or four percent (4%) of gross wages for the period in which the vacation was earned, whichever is greater. Such vacation shall be taken at a time mutually agreed with the Employer and shall not be unreasonably denied.
- (b) Upon completion of six (6) months service in the first year of employment, an employee shall be entitled to receive a paid vacation of five (5) working days which if taken, will be deducted from the total entitlement for that year. Such vacation shall be taken at a time mutually agreed with the Employer and shall not be unreasonably denied.

9.02

Upon completion of three (3) years continuous service, an employee shall be entitled to receive a paid vacation of fifteen (15) working days. Payment for such vacation period shall be at the employee's current wage rate or six percent (6%) of gross wages for the period in which the vacation was earned, whichever is greater.

9.03

Upon completion of five (5) years continuous service, an employee shall be entitled to receive a paid vacation of twenty (20) working days. Payment for such vacation period shall be at the employee's current wage rate or eight percent (8%) of gross wages for the period in which the vacation was earned, whichever is greater. Upon completion of each additional year of service greater than five (5), an employee shall be entitled to one (1) additional day of paid vacation up to a maximum of thirty (30) days.

9.04

Senior employees shall be given preference in the selection of vacation periods. Employees who wish to take their vacation in two (2) or more periods instead of one (1) unbroken period may do so subject to the following:

Employees shall select their vacation periods in order of seniority as defined in this Agreement, however, only one (1) vacation period shall be selected by seniority until all employees in the signing group have had the opportunity to select one (1) vacation period. Subsequently, those employees who have chosen to take their vacation in two (2) or more separate periods shall select the second (2nd) and subsequent periods in order of seniority.

9.05

The Employer shall make available, a vacation schedule, the first working day of each new year and the employees shall indicate by seniority, their vacation selection by March 15th and have such vacation confirmed by March 31st of each year, as per clause 9.04. Employees who bid after March 15th shall have their vacation requests approved on a first-come, first-serve basis.

9.06

Upon fifteen (15) days written notice, regular employees shall be entitled to receive, prior to commencement of their vacation, a payroll advance equivalent to the amount of vacation being taken for that vacation period.

9.07

No employee shall be required to work during their annual vacation.

9.08

Employees whose regularly scheduled shift is less than five (5) days per week, shall be entitled to receive the applicable vacation days pro-rated.

ARTICLE 10 - LEAVE OF ABSENCE

10.01

(a) Extended Leave of Absence

An employee may apply for an unpaid leave of absence of up to one (1) year after a two (2)-year continuous service period. Application for such leave shall be forwarded to the Employer. Permission for such leave shall be in writing and shall not be unreasonably denied. Health benefits shall continue for up to three (3) months while an employee is on leave. Thereafter the employee may make arrangements with the Employer to self-fund their benefits for the remainder of their leave.

(b) Short Term Leave of Absence

An employee may apply for an unpaid short-term leave of absence of up to five (5) working days per six (6) month period. Permission for such leave shall be in writing and shall not be unreasonably denied.

10.02 BEREAVEMENT LEAVE

In cases of death in the immediate family, i.e., husband, wife, spouse/partner, son, daughter, stepchild, father, father-in-law, mother, mother-in-law, sister, brother, grandparents or grandchildren, an employee shall be granted five (5) working days leave of absence with full pay. One (1) day of leave with pay shall be granted to any employee who wishes to attend services related to the death of a spouse's grandparents, spouse's grandchildren, and all other relatives of the spouse and/or employee. Additional time off without pay may be granted at the employee's request.

10.03 MATERNITY/PARENTAL LEAVE

(a) Maternity Leave

- (i) pregnant employee who requests leave under this Clause is entitled to up to seventeen (17) weeks of unpaid leave:
 - (A) beginning
 - (1) no earlier than eleven (11) weeks before the expected birth date, and
 - (2) no later than the actual birth date, and

- (B) ending
 - (1) no earlier than six (6) weeks after the actual birth date, unless the employee requests a shorter period, and
 - (2) no later than seventeen (17) weeks after the actual birth date.
- (ii) An employee requests leave under this clause after the birth of a child or the termination of a pregnancy is entitled to up to six (6) consecutive weeks of unpaid leave beginning on the date of the birth or of the termination of the pregnancy.
- (iii) An employee is entitled to up to six (6) additional consecutive weeks of unpaid leave if, for reasons related to the birth or the termination of the pregnancy, she is unable to return to work when her leave ends under sub-clauses (A) or (B).
- (iv) A request for leave must:
 - (A) be given in writing to the Employer;
 - (B) if the request is made during the pregnancy, be given to the Employer at least four (4) weeks before the day the employee proposes to begin leave, and
 - (C) if required by the Employer, be accompanied by a medical practitioner's certificate stating the expected or actual birth date or the date the pregnancy terminated or stating the reasons for requesting additional leave under sub-clause (iii).
 - (D) A female employee in her pregnancy shall be granted an indefinite unpaid leave of absence based on her physician's medical advice, in writing duly provided to the Employer, prior to childbirth but shall not be required to go on maternity leave until eleven (11) weeks prior to the expected delivery date.
- (v) A request for a shorter period under sub-clause (a)(i)(B)(1):
 - (A) be given in writing to the Employer at least one week before the date the employee proposes to return to work, and
 - (B) if required by the Employer, be accompanied by a medical practitioner's certificate stating the employee is able to resume work.

(b) Parental Leave

- (i) An employee who requests parental leave under this clause is entitled to:
 - (A) for a birth mother who takes leave under Clause (a) in relation to the birth of the child or children with respect to whom the parental leave is to be taken, up to thirty-five (35) consecutive weeks of unpaid leave beginning immediately after the end of the leave taken under Clause (a) unless the Employer and employee agree otherwise;
 - (B) for a birth mother who does not take leave under Clause (a) in relation to the birth of the child or children with respect to whom the parental leave is to be taken, up to thirty-seven (37) consecutive weeks of unpaid leave beginning after the child's birth and within fifty-two (52) weeks after that event;

- (C) for a non-birth parent, up to thirty-seven (37) consecutive weeks of unpaid leave beginning after the child's birth and within fifty-two (52) weeks after that event, and
- (D) for an adopting parent, up to thirty-seven (37) consecutive weeks beginning within fifty-two (52) weeks after the child is placed with the parent.
- (ii) If the child has a physical, psychological or emotional condition requiring an additional period of parental care, the employee is entitled to up to five (5) additional weeks of unpaid leave, beginning immediately after the end of the leave taken under sub-section (b)(i).
- (iii) A request for leave must:
 - (A) be given in writing to the Employer;
 - (B) if the request is for leave under subsection (b)(i)(A) or (B), be given to the Employer at least four (4) weeks before the employee proposes to begin leave, and
 - (C) if required by the Employer, be accompanied by a medical practitioner's certificate or other evidence of the employee's entitlement to leave.
- (iv) An employee's combined entitlement to leave under Clause (a) and this Clause is limited to fifty-two (52) weeks plus any additional leave the employee is entitled to under Clause (a)(iii) or Clause (b)(ii).

(c) **Duties of Employer**

- (i) An Employer must give an employee who requests leave under Clause 10.03 the leave to which the employee is entitled.
- (ii) An Employer must not, because of an employee's pregnancy or a leave allowed by Clause 10.03:
 - (A) terminate employment, or
 - (B) change a condition of employment without the employee's written consent.
- (iii) As soon as the leave ends, the Employer must place the employee:
 - (A) in the position the employee held before taking leave under Clause 10.03, or
 - (B) in a comparable position.
- (iv) If the Employer's operations are suspended or discontinued when the leave ends, the Employer must, subject to the seniority provisions in a collective agreement, comply with sub-clause (iii) as soon as operations are resumed.
- (d) Employment deemed continuous while employee on leave
 - (i) The services of an employee who is on leave under Clause 10.03 or is attending court as a juror are deemed to be continuous for the purposes of:
 - (A) calculating annual vacation entitlement and entitlement for individual or group severance pay, and
 - (B) any pension, medical or other plan beneficial to the employee.

- (ii) In the following circumstances, the Employer must continue to make payments to a pension, medical or other plan beneficial to an employee as though the employee were not on leave:
 - (A) if the Employer pays the total cost of the Plan;
 - (B) if both the Employer and the employee pay the cost of the Plan and the employee chooses to continue to pay his or her share of the cost.
- (iii) The employee is entitled to all increases in wages and benefits the employee would have been entitled to had the leave not been taken.
- (iv) Sub-clause (i) does not apply if the employee has, without the Employer's consent, taken a longer leave than is allowed under Clause 10.03.
- (e) Provided the employee has no other earnings coverage for the employment insurance waiting period, the Employer will pay fifty percent (50%) of the employee's normal, regular weekly earnings for the employment insurance waiting period, upon proof the employee is serving the said waiting period.
- (f) The Employer agrees that when Employment Insurance increases its Maternity/Parental leave pay over the existing twelve (12) months coverage, and/or when Employment Standards of BC increases the duration of the leave, they will allow for the new extended duration.

10.04 FAMILY RESPONSIBILITY LEAVE

An employee is entitled to up to five (5) days of unpaid leave during each employment year to meet responsibilities related to:

- (a) the care, health or education of a child in the employee's care
- (b) the care of health of any other member of the employee's immediate family.

10.05 PAID EDUCATION LEAVE

The Employer agrees to pay into a special fund three cents (\$0.03) per hour per employee for all compensated hours for the purpose of providing paid education leave. Such leave shall be for upgrading the employees' skills in all aspects of trade functions. Payments should be made on a quarterly basis into a trust fund established by the National Union, Unifor. Cheques shall be made payable to:

Unifor Paid Education Leave Program 115 Gordon Baker Road Toronto, ON M2H 0A8

The Employer further agrees that members of the bargaining unit, selected by the Union to attend such courses, shall be granted a leave of absence without pay for twenty (20) days class time plus travel time where necessary, said leave of absence to be intermittent over a twelve (12) month period from the first day of leave. Employees on said leave of absence shall continue to accrue seniority and benefits during such leave.

10.06 SOCIAL JUSTICE FUND

The Employer and the Union agree to establish the Unifor Social Justice Fund. The purpose of this Fund would be to provide financial assistance to such entitled as food banks, registered Canadian charities, and international relief measures to assist the innocent victims of droughts, famines and other dislocations.

Subject to the following conditions, the Employer will make quarterly contributions to such a fund equal to two cents (\$0.02) for each straight time hour worked.

The Company will make these quarterly payments provided that:

- (a) The Union maintains the Fund as a non-profit corporation under the Canada Corporations Act, and ensures that the necessary steps are taken to maintain the corporation in proper legal standing and that all requirements of the Act are met.
- (b) The Union maintains the registration of the non-profit corporation under the Income Tax Act of Canada in good standing.
- (c) The Union maintains a favourable Income Tax Ruling from the Federal Department of National Revenue that all contributions which the Company makes to the non-profit corporation are tax deductible.
- (d) The Union provides the Company with annual audited financial statements of, and summaries of each year's donations made by the non-profit corporation.
- (e) The objects, by-laws and resolutions of this non-profit corporation should limit it to making the following types of financial contributions:
 - (i) contributions to other Canadian non-partisan charities that are registered under the Income Tax Act;
 - (ii) contributions to non-partisan international relief efforts that are recognized by the Canadian International Development Agency (CIDA), or any successor body that performs like functions;
 - (iii) contributions to any Canadian or international non-partisan efforts to which other Canadian charities that are registered under the Income Tax Act are also making contributions;
- (f) Contributions to any non-governmental and non-partisan development group recognized by CIDA and registered as a charity under the Income Tax Act.

10.07 LOCAL UNION TRAINING

Upon written request from the Union, the Employer shall contribute up to two thousand dollars (\$2,000.00) every two (2) years, commencing in January 2003 to cover any and all expenses related to a bargaining unit member attending the B.C. Region CLC Winter School.

10.08 PAID DOMESTIC VIOLENCE LEAVE & DISCIPLINE PROTECTION LANGUAGE

The Employer agrees to recognize that employees sometimes face situations of violence or abuse in their personal life that may affect their attendance or performance at work. For that reason, the Employer and the Union agree, when there is adequate verification from a recognized professional (i.e. doctor, lawyer, registered counsellor), an employee who is in an abusive or violent situation will not be subjected to discipline if work performance or absence can be linked to the abusive or violent situation. Absences which are not covered by sick leave or disability insurance will be granted as absent with permission with pay. If leave exceeds three (3) months, then another review/evaluation may be required from a recognized professional. If leave exceeds one (1) year the Employer reserves the right to refer the employee to a recognized professional of the Employers choosing, for a review.

ARTICLE 11 - SICK LEAVE

11.01 SICK LEAVE

The Employer shall allow eighteen (18) working days or fractions thereof, per calendar year (January to December), sick leave with full pay. Such sick leave shall not accumulate from year to year. If requested by the Employer, a doctor's certificate must be supplied by the employee's doctor, in respect of any illness or injury extending beyond three (3) continuous working days. The Employer may request a Doctor's certificate in respect of any illness or injury less than three (3) continuous working days where a verifiable pattern of absenteeism exists for that employee. Sick days will not be paid out upon termination of employment.

(a) For employees hired during the calendar year and/or employees who are not on a regular schedule, sick leave entitlement shall be on a pro-rated basis consistent with the time worked.

11.02

Sick leave as per clause 11.01 may be used to cover those days not covered by the health and welfare plan.

11.03

Sick leave as per clause 11.01 may be used in the event of family emergencies, personal leave, and for medical / dental appointments.

ARTICLE 12 - BENEFITS

12.01

The Employer guarantees the following benefits to all regular employees and their dependants. The cost of the benefits below, including any and all premiums, shall be paid one hundred percent (100%) by the Employer.

12.02

The benefits set out in this Article, and the eligibility for such benefits, shall not be changed or modified during the life of the Agreement, except by negotiation and mutual agreement of the Union and the Employer.

12.03

The Employer is responsible for the administration, application, and provision of the benefits of this Article. Any difference arising with respect to the administration, application or provision of any aspect of the Article will be disposed of in accordance with the grievance and arbitration procedures of this Agreement.

12.04 M.S.P.

The Employer shall provide a premium contribution of one hundred percent (100%).

12.05 RETIREMENT PLAN

Commencing June 1, 2011, the Employer shall pay to each employee an amount equal to nine percent (9%) of their straight time, overtime, and vacation pay earnings.

12.06

The Employer guarantees to provide the benefits as laid out in the GREAT WEST LIFE GROUP BENEFIT PROGRAM issued August 1, 2015.

12.07 INDIVIDUAL FLEXIBLE BENEFIT CREDIT

The Employer shall pay one thousand dollars (\$1,000.00) per year as a credit to each employee for their individual flexible benefit credit.

The individual benefit credit will provide flexibility to augment the existing benefit plan to suit the needs of each individual member of the bargaining unit. Each employee will have the flexibility to utilize their one thousand-dollar (\$1,000.00) credit on a "dollar for dollar" basis to add value and diversity to their benefit plan, where the individual feels the need may arise. This clause will be administered upon reimbursement of receipts submitted on an "as used" basis. Employees shall be permitted to carry over unused monies up to a maximum of two thousand dollars (\$2000.00) in any two (2) year period.

ARTICLE 13 - WAGES

13.01

Employees will be classified in accordance with the skills used and shall be paid not less than the minimum weekly or hourly wage rate for such classification in accordance with the table of categories and the job descriptions as set forth in Appendix "A" and "B", which is attached hereto and made part of this Agreement. Any office or clerical position not covered by Appendix "A" and "B", or any new office or clerical position which may be established during the life of this Agreement, shall be subject to negotiations between the Employer and the Union. In the event that the Parties are unable to agree as to the classification and rate of pay for the job in question, or in re-classifying any position of any employee which may be in dispute, the matter may be submitted to the arbitration procedure, as defined in Article 19 of this Agreement.

13.02

An employee assigned to a higher job classification or temporarily replacing another employee in such higher classification shall be paid at the higher rate for the period so employed, provided the employee has the qualifications necessary and fulfils the duties of the higher job. This provision shall not apply for brief relief periods of less than four hours per day except that if an employee is required to work at a higher classification on a recurring basis, i.e, each day, each week or each month, the higher rate of pay shall apply as provided in Appendix A and B. Employees temporarily transferred to a lower rated classification shall receive the wage rate of their regular classification.

13.03

Any employee hired, who reports for work and is not put to work, shall be guaranteed a minimum of four (4) hours pay.

ARTICLE 14 - SENIORITY

14.01

Seniority shall mean length of continuous service with the Employer and its predecessors. Seniority shall not accrue for general leaves of absence greater than one (1) year in duration. For all other leaves of absence, an employee will continue to accrue seniority.

14.02

Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, an employee who leaves their employment and subsequently returns, will be considered a new employee from the date of re-entering the unit for purposes of seniority credit.

14.03

The Employer and the Union subscribe to the principle of seniority.

14.04

An employee will lose her seniority in the event that:

- (a) she voluntarily resigns her employment in writing;
- (b) she is discharged for just and reasonable cause in writing and the discharge is not grieved, or the discharge is upheld in arbitration,
- (c) she accepts a position with the Employer which is outside the bargaining unit for a period of over six (6) months duration or as otherwise reasonably agreed to between the parties;
- (d) she fails to meet the requirements of recall as per Clause 16.05;
- (e) she is on lay-off for a period of twelve (12) consecutive months and/or twenty-four (24) consecutive months as per Clause 16.02;
- (f) she accepts severance pay in accordance with Clause 16.08;
- (g) she overstays an authorized leave of absence unless detained for reasonable cause.

14.05

When two or more new employees commence work on the same day the procedure for establishing their relative seniority will be based upon the employee's date and time of acceptance of employment.

ARTICLE 15 - JOB POSTING AND JOB AWARDS

15.01

Bargaining Unit job vacancies shall be filled from within the office based on seniority, ability, and experience. In the event two (2) or more employees having the same relative ability and experience, the employee with the greatest seniority shall be selected.

15.02 JOB POSTING

- (a) Job postings for positions within the bargaining unit and postings for new positions added to the bargaining unit, including temporary vacancies of thirty (30) days and more, shall be posted for not less than six (6) working days and within seven (7) days of the Employer having knowledge of such vacancy occurring. The Shop Steward shall receive copies of all job postings. The Employer shall fill job vacancies in accordance with 15.04(a) before hiring new employees.
- (b) All applications on posted jobs shall be in writing or on a form provided by the Employer.
- (c) Employees absent during the period that a vacancy has been posted shall be notified of the posting by the Employer by telephone and registered mail. It is the employee's responsibility to advise the Employer in writing of their contact telephone number and address when absent.

15.03 JOB POSTING DETAIL

The posting shall contain the following information:

(a) The job classification;

- (b) A general outline of duties and responsibilities;
- (c) The anticipated hours of work per week;
- (d) The anticipated shifts to be worked;
- (e) The applicable wage rate.

If the vacancy referred to herein occurs without advance notice to the Employer, the Employer may fill the vacancy from amongst employees qualified to perform the tasks of the job until the job posting procedure has been completed.

15.04 SELECTION PROCESS

- (a) Preference for job awards shall be given to employees who have the seniority, ability, and experience acquired through successful cross training or otherwise, to do the job. Employees awarded jobs in accordance with this provision are subject to a trial period of sixty (60) days worked.
- (b) Minimum wages paid on promotion shall be employee's present rate plus five percent (5%).
- (c) Should, during the trial period, the employee be unable to fulfil the job requirements or should they decide that they do not want to continue in the job, then the employee shall have the option to return to their former position.
- (d) (i) The parties recognize the importance of cross-training to ensure that employees are properly trained for backup and for promotions. The Employer undertakes to cross-train employees, within a reasonable period of time, on the basis of seniority and the ability to do the job.
 - (ii) An employee must have demonstrated ability in their present position before being cross-trained in another position.

ARTICLE 16 - LAY-OFF AND RECALL

16.01 LAYOFF

If a reduction of office staff is necessary, the Employer shall meet with the Union Representative and the following procedure shall be adopted.

The employee with the least amount of seniority will be the first laid-off, providing the remaining employees have the necessary ability to satisfactorily perform all necessary job requirements.

16.02 NOTICE OF LAY-OFF

All permanent employees shall be given in writing the following notice of lay-off or wages in lieu of notice:

- (a) Two (2) weeks' notice where the employee has been employed less than three (3) consecutive years.
- (b) After the completion of a period of employment of three (3) consecutive years, one (1) additional week notice for each completed year of employment.
- (c) In the event of office closure, Article 16.04 will apply.
- (d) The period of notice shall not coincide with an employee's annual vacation.

16.03

Any employee (excluding temporary employees) with six months or more of service who is laidoff due to lack of work or redundancy shall be placed on the recall list for a period of one (1) year. In addition, the Employer shall maintain all Welfare Plan benefits for up to a maximum of six (6) consecutive months while an employee is on lay-off and/or for three (3) months if the employee chooses to receive severance pay, and is not eligible for benefits from another Employer of that employee.

16.04 AVOIDANCE OF LAY-OFF

The Employer may either lay-off employees in accordance with this Article or may confer and mutually agree with the Union upon an alternate plan.

16.05 RECALL

Notice of recall to an employee who has been laid-off shall be made by registered mail to the employee with a copy to the Union. The employee must respond to such notice within ten (10) days of receiving it or shall lose rights of seniority and recall; however, an employee who is prevented from responding to a recall notice because of illness or other reason beyond the employee's control shall not lose such rights thereby. An employee having to give notice to another Employer shall be deemed as having complied with this ten (10)-day period.

16.06

Employees on the recall list shall have first rights to any vacancy in their former job classification or to a similar classification for which the employee is qualified, and the Employer will not hire for or promote to such a classification while an eligible employee is on the recall list.

16.07

Recalled employees shall receive their former salary and any salary increments to which the employee would have become entitled during the period on the recall list. All rights due to seniority under this Agreement shall be unaffected by such a lay-off period.

16.08 SEVERANCE PAY

- (a) All employees who are laid-off due to automation, changes in procedure, merger or suspension of business may either accept the lay-off, or request severance pay which shall result in the employee's termination and forfeiture of recall rights. Employees must notify the Employer of their decision no later than the last business day of what would be their lay-off notice, as specified in clause 16.02. The amount of such severance pay shall be two (2) weeks pay for each year of service to a maximum of eighteen (18) weeks. Severance pay shall be payable to an employee within five (5) business days of the Employer receiving written notice of the employee's intention to accept severance pay and terminate her employment.
- (b) Political Change

If, within the first 6 months following an election resulting in a change to the Executive Board of the Local, an employee has established that he/she has been terminated without just cause, this shall be deemed to be termination as a result of political change. In such circumstances, the employee shall be entitled to severance pay in the amount of four (4) weeks per year of service to a maximum of thirty-two (32) weeks. Benefits shall be maintained for a period of twelve (12) months.

ARTICLE 17 - GENERAL

17.01

Working conditions, wages and benefits at present in force which are not specifically mentioned in this Agreement and are not contrary to its intention, shall continue in full force and effect.

17.02

The Employer agrees to keep all office machinery, furniture, and fixtures in a normal state of repair and working condition.

17.03 JURY DUTY

An employee summoned to Jury Duty or subpoenaed as a witness shall be paid wages amounting to the difference between the amount paid them for jury service or acting as a subpoenaed witness and the amount they would have earned, had they worked on such days. Employees on jury duty shall furnish the Employer with such statements of earnings as the Courts may supply. Employees shall return to work within a reasonable period of time. They shall not be required to report if less than four (4) hours of their normal shift remains to be worked. Total hours on jury duty or as a subpoenaed witness and actual work on the job in the office in one (1) day shall not exceed seven (7) hours for purposes of establishing the basic workday. Any approved time worked in the office in excess of the combined total of seven (7) hours, shall be considered overtime and paid as such.

17.04

- (a) The Employer will be responsible for all expenses for employees who are requested and agree to attend functions on behalf of the Employer. (Receipts for expenses shall be provided at the request of the Employer.)
- (b) Employees shall receive fifty-two cents (\$0.52) per kilometre when utilizing their vehicle for work related purposes on any given day. The above may be updated upward during the life of this Collective Agreement to reflect adjustments to rates set out by the *Canada Revenue Agency*.
- (c) The Employer will advance sufficient cash for daily travel expenses (U.S. dollars if applicable) upon written request of the employee.

17.05 PRE-APPROVED TUITION FEES

The Employer agrees to pay all tuition fees for continuing education courses upon successful completion of said courses. Courses must be employment related within the employee's present workplace and approved in writing by the Employer in advance. This clause is not applicable to probationary employees.

17.06 OFF PREMISES EQUIPMENT

If pagers or other communicating devices are required by the Employer, they shall be paid for by the Employer.

ARTICLE 18 - DISCIPLINE AND DISCHARGE

18.01

(a) No Employee shall be discharged, suspended, demoted, or given a written reprimand without just and reasonable cause.

- (b) Reasons for discipline including suspension, demotion, and discharge shall be submitted in writing to the employee with a copy to the Union.
- (c) All letters of a disciplinary nature shall be removed from an employee's file after eighteen
 (18) continuous months without the imposition of discipline of a similar nature.

18.02

Three (3) business days after an employee whose employment is terminated by the Employer, as set forth in Clause 18.01 above, shall be paid all vacation credits and salary due upon such termination of employment.

18.03

All discipline shall be assessed in writing clearly identifying that it is discipline and copied to the Union within seven (7) days of the incident or first knowledge of the Company or be deemed null and void. The Employer may request of the Union a time limit extension, which shall not be unreasonably denied.

18.04

- (a) Prior to any discipline taking place, an employee shall be interviewed by a Union Representative and/or Union Steward. No interview shall take place until the employee has his Union Representative and/or Union Steward present, otherwise all discipline shall be deemed null and void unless representation is waived by the employee.
- (b) When a Union Steward requires time off from work to accompany an employee to an interview pursuant to this Clause, the Union Steward must notify the Employer regarding his required absence and this leave shall be granted without loss of pay.

18.05

The Employer agrees that access to an employee's Personal File shall be provided to the employee, upon request, with an appointment and during office hours. He may request a representative of the Union to be present at the time of such examination.

18.06

Whenever an employee signs a document pertaining to discipline, they do so only to acknowledge that they have been notified accordingly.

ARTICLE 19 – GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

19.01 DEFINITION AND RECOGNITION OF A GRIEVANCE

Any complaint, disagreement, or differences of opinion between the parties respecting the interpretation, application, operation, or alleged violation of this Collective Agreement, including any dispute with regard to discipline or discharge, shall be considered a grievance.

19.02 INFORMAL STEP

As an informal step, the employee is encouraged to make an earnest effort to resolve the grievance directly with the management person to whom the employee reports. At the employee's option, the employee may be accompanied by the Shop Steward.

19.03 STEP ONE

- (a) At this step, notice of the grievance in writing, must be filed with a person designated by the Employer within ten (10) working days after the occurrence of the alleged grievance or of the date on which the employee first has knowledge of it.
- (b) The notice in writing shall briefly but clearly describe the nature of the incident or occurrence which gave rise to the grievance, and it shall clearly state the provision of the Agreement which has been violated.
- (c) The Employer's representative must answer the grievance in writing within five (5) days.

19.04 STEP TWO

In the event that a resolution of the grievance, satisfactory to the Union and the Employer, does not result at Step One (1), an attempt to resolve the grievance shall be made between the employee, the shop steward and/or a Union representative and a person or persons designated by the Employer.

19.05 STEP THREE

In the event that a resolution of the grievance, satisfactory to the Union and the Employer, does not result at Step Two (2), either the Union or the Employer may advance the grievance to the next step. The next step involves a selection from the following alternatives:

- (a) A single Arbitrator;
- (b) Section 104 Expedited Arbitration.

19.06 UNION AND EMPLOYER POLICY OR GENERAL GRIEVANCE

The Union shall file all suspension and discharge grievances at Step Two (2) of the Grievance Procedure. The Union and the Employer may file policy, or general grievances, which shall also be filed at Step Two (2).

19.07 TIME LIMITS

A grievance or dispute shall commence and proceed through the Steps of the Grievance Procedure within the time limits provided. The time limits may be extended by mutual consent of both parties.

19.08 ARBITRATION HEARING AND AWARD

(a) The parties agree to use the following arbitrators:

Robert Blasina	Vince Ready
Wayne Moore	Stan Lanyon
Jim Dorsey	Joan McEwen
Joan Gordon	Jean Greatbatch

- (b) As soon as the Arbitrator has been appointed, the Arbitrator will be encouraged to commence the hearing within five (5) days and further encouraged to render a decision within fourteen (14) days.
- (c) In order to expedite the arbitration process, the parties agree that they will meet to identify the issue or issues and to prepare, in written form, a statement of facts which are not in dispute. The identification of the issue or issues and the statement of agreed facts will be placed before the Arbitrator.

(d) The parties recognize that they are bound by a decision of the Arbitrator.

19.09 AUTHORITY OF THE ARBITRATOR

The parties to the Arbitration recognize that the authority of the Arbitrator is set out in Section 89 of the *Labour Relations Code of British Columbia*.

19.10 COST SHARING

Each party to the Arbitration will be responsible for its own costs and will share equally, the cost associated with the Arbitrator.

19.11

No technical error or omission shall render a Grievance inarbitrable.

19.12

Absence from work shall be permitted where it is required in connection with the handling of a grievance provided that permission is received in advance from the supervisor. Such permission shall not be unreasonably withheld. Time spent in handling grievances shall be considered time worked.

ARTICLE 20 - HEALTH AND SAFETY

20.01

The Employer agrees to a "No Smoking" policy within its buildings.

20.02

A Joint Occupational Safety and Health Committee shall consist of not less than one Representative of the Employer and one Representative of the Union.

(a) The function of the Joint Occupational Safety and Health Committee shall be to consider, monitor, inspect, investigate and/or review health and safety conditions and practices. The time, date, and place for meetings shall be scheduled by mutual agreement. Minutes shall be taken at all meetings and copies distributed to the Union and to the Employer and made accessible to all employees. Payment to attend seminars and/or upgrading on health and safety matters relevant to the workplace shall be subject to the agreement of the Employer.

20.03

An employee who is injured while at work and is required to leave for treatment or is sent home as a result of such injury shall receive payment for the remainder of her work day at her regular rate of pay without reduction of sick leave. The Employer shall bear the costs of any necessary transportation.

20.04

Employees have the right to refuse to perform any unsafe work.

20.05

The Employer acknowledges its responsibility to make all reasonable and proper provisions for the maintenance of high standards of health and safety and ergonomic work environment in the workplace, including a properly heated, ventilated and lighted working environment that is as free as possible from pollution.

ARTICLE 21 - TECHNOLOGICAL, PROCEDURAL, ORGANIZATIONAL CHANGES

21.01 DEFINITION, NOTICE, DISCLOSURE AND CONSULTATION

- (a) Wherever possible, the Employer shall provide the Union with up to six (6) months written notice of intention to introduce automated equipment and/or procedural change.
- (b) The Employer agrees to disclose full details of the planned technological and/or procedural changes, which may cause any change to an employee's normal duties or place of employment.
- (c) The Employer and the Union shall enter into meaningful consultation regarding such technological and/or procedural changes prior to implementation.

21.02

Employees becoming redundant due to new equipment or procedures shall be eligible for retraining to equip them for the operation of such new equipment or procedure, or to qualify for new positions. Such re-training will be provided by the Employer without loss of pay to the affected employees.

21.03

As per Article 21.01 (c), in cases where the re-training of employees is not practical, or where other positions with the Employer are not available, the employee(s) shall elect for termination of employment or shall elect to be placed on the recall list. An employee on recall under this Section shall receive health and welfare benefits, excluding retirement, for a period of six (6) calendar months.

21.04

A specified extension of the recall period, where recall is applied under Article 16.03 above, may be mutually agreed by the Employer and employee, subject to written approval by the Union.

ARTICLE 22 - BULLYING & HARASSMENT

22.01 NO DISCRIMINATION, BULLYING OR HARASSMENT

- (a) All employees have and may assert their right to work in an environment free from discrimination, bullying and harassment, including sexual harassment.
- (b) The Employer and the Union agree that they will afford every employee covered by this Agreement, the right to equal benefit, equal protection and equal treatment with respect to this Agreement or with respect to any other term or condition of employment without discrimination based on a ground prohibited by the BC *Human Rights Code*.

22.02 PERSONAL RIGHTS

The rules, regulations and requirements of employment shall be limited to matters pertaining to the work requirements of each employee. Employees will not be asked or required to do personal services for the Employer which are not connected with the operation of the Employer.

22.03 BULLYING & HARASSMENT DEFINED

(a) **Bullying and Harassment:** is as any inappropriate conduct or comment toward an employee that the person knew, or reasonably ought to have known, would cause that employee to be humiliated or intimidated, but excludes any reasonable action taken by

the Employer or supervisor relating to the management and direction of employees in the workplace.

Bullying and harassment are also deliberate actions such as offensive, malicious and/or cruel behaviour with the aim to humiliate, intimidate, undermine, or destroy the character or confidence of an individual or group of individuals, which may include teasing, ridicule, mobbing, repeating gossip or any other act or words that could psychologically hurt or isolate a member from other members, clients or peers.

Bullying and harassment may include but is not limited to the following types of conduct:

- Verbal abuse;
- Physical assault or abuse;
- Derogatory remarks;
- Displays of offensive materials;
- Innuendoes or taunts;
- Threats or intimidation;
- Practical jokes that cause awkwardness or embarrassment;
- Retaliation for filing a bullying and harassment complaint;
- Harmful initiation or hazing practices;
- Vandalizing personal belongings; and/or
- Cyber bullying and harassment.

The conduct, comment, gesture, or contact does not need to be intentional in order to be considered bullying or harassment.

While bullying and harassment is typically a pattern of inappropriate conduct, a single incident can also be considered bullying and harassment.

Bullying and harassment may involve discrimination on a ground protected by the BC *Human Rights Code* (this includes Sexual Harassment), or may involve conduct not linked to a protected ground.

- (b) Sexual Harassment: is any unwanted attention of a sexual nature, including, but not limited to:
 - Conduct or comments of a sexual nature that are unwelcome and that create an intimidating, hostile, or poisoned work environment, or that could reasonably be thought to put sexual conditions on an employee's job or employment opportunities;
 - A compromising invitation with sexual overtones or sexual comment;
 - Unwanted touching, pinching, patting;
 - Unwelcome sexual flirtations, advances, propositions, or requests;
 - Sexually suggestive, obscene or degrading comments, remarks, gestures, or innuendoes;
 - Offensive jokes of a sexual nature;
 - Leering or unnecessary physical contact;
 - Displaying or circulating pornographic pictures or other material of a sexual nature; and/or
 - Stalking.

22.04 COMPLAINT PROCEDURE

(a) **Responding to Bullying & Harassment**

If an employee believes that she/he has been bullied or harassed, the employee should:

- Document the event(s), complete with the time, date, location, names of witnesses, and details of the event(s) if possible; and
- Tell the alleged harasser(s) to stop, if they feel comfortable doing so.

(b) **Reporting Bullying & Harassment**

Reports of bullying and harassment should be directed to the Business Agent and/or the President. If the matter involves the Business Agent and the President, the report may be directed to the applicable regional Vice-President. Any employee can make a report of bullying and harassment verbally or in writing. When submitting a report, employees should provide as much detail as possible, including: the date, time, and location of the alleged incident, the specific words or conduct that led to the complaint, the names of any witnesses and, if available, and any evidence supporting the complaint.

(c) Investigation

Upon receipt of a complaint of bullying & harassment, the respondent shall be given notice of the substance of the complaint, and an opportunity to provide a response to the Employer.

In some cases, complaints of bullying & harassment may be resolved informally without a full investigation, for example, when so requested by the complainant. If the complaint cannot be resolved by informal resolution it will proceed to a formal investigation.

The Employer may conduct the investigation internally, or may elect to retain a thirdparty investigator. The Employer retains the sole discretion to determine the manner and form in which the investigations will proceed including whether the matter will be subject to legal privilege.

Parties to the complaint shall not be involved in conducting the investigation, selecting a third-party investigator (if applicable), or determining the outcome of the investigation.

Employees have the right to be represented or accompanied by a Union representative during any stage of the investigation process.

Employees are expected to cooperate with investigations and provide any details of acts of bullying and harassment they have experienced or witnessed.

Investigations will be:

- prompt, diligent, and thorough; and
- fair and impartial.

The investigator may undertake some or all of the following procedures as deemed appropriate in the circumstances:

- Review the allegations;
- Conduct interview(s) of the complainant, potential witnesses, the subject of the complaint, or anyone with relevant information;
- Collect and review documents; and
- Review the workplace or sites of the incident.

After an investigation has been completed, the investigator will provide a written report with conclusions to the Employer. The Employer will then assess, on the basis of that report, whether bullying and harassment has occurred, and what remedial and/or disciplinary steps, if any, need to be taken.

Subject to the privacy rights of the involved parties, only the outcome of the investigation will then be reported to the complainant and respondent.

(d) Mediation

Where appropriate in the circumstances, at any stage of an investigation, the investigator may recommend the parties participate in a mediated dispute resolution process. If the parties agree, and the mediation process resolves the complaint, the investigation will conclude and no further steps will be taken.

(e) **Confidentiality**

Complaints of bullying and harassment and resulting investigations will be treated with strict confidentiality, and information related to the complaint will only be disclosed as required in order to conduct the investigation and resolve the complaint.

(f) Reprisal

Any person who reports an occurrence, or acts as a witness in good faith, is protected from reprisal or the threat of reprisal by the Employer. Any suspected retaliation or intimidation should be reported immediately.

In circumstances in which it can be proven that a complaint has been fabricated or filed in bad faith, appropriate disciplinary action will be take up to and including dismissal for cause. Where a complaint is unsubstantiated or based on mistake, it will not necessarily be considered fabricated or filed in bad faith.

(g) Discipline

Any disciplinary actions taken by the Employer against a member of the bargaining unit pursuant to the investigation report shall be in accordance with Article 18 of this Agreement and grievable pursuant to the provisions of Article 19 of this Agreement.

(h) Training

The Employer will provide Human Rights and Anti-Harassment training for all employees.

(i) Legal Remedies Preserved

Nothing in this Article shall be considered to negate the right of an employee to pursue remedies for bullying and harassment available through civil action, or other legal means, for any damages arising from workplace bullying and harassment, including but not limited to a Human Rights Complaint.

ARTICLE 23 - DURATION

23.01

- (a) This Agreement shall be in full force and effect from June 1, 2020 up to and including May 31, 2023 and shall continue in full force and effect from year to year thereafter, subject to the right of either party to this Agreement within four (4) months immediately preceding the expiration (or immediately preceding the anniversary date in any year thereafter), by written notice to the other party, require the other party to commence collective bargaining with a view to the conclusion of a renewal or revision of the Collective Agreement, or a new collective agreement.
- (b) Should either party give written notice to the other party pursuant hereto, this Agreement shall thereafter continue in full force and effect until the Union shall give notice of strike and such strike has been implemented or the Employer shall give notice of lockout and such lockout has been implemented, or the parties shall conclude a renewal or revision of the Agreement of a new collective agreement.
- (c) The operation of Section 50(2)(3) of the *British Columbia Labour Relations Code* is hereby excluded.

Signed and dated this <u>24th</u> day of <u>September</u>, **2020**.

FOR THE EMPLOYER: ICG Local 669 FOR THE UNION: Unifor Local 3000

Amanda Trimble, President

Jessica Moskal, Treasurer

Wendy Newton Bargaining Committee

Sharon Lover Bargaining Committee

Ellen-Marie Moreira Local 3000 Representative

Ben Williams Unifor National Representative

APPENDIX A – WAGE SCHEDULE

Wage Schedule		Current Rate	June 1 2020 0%	June 1 2021 2%	June 1 2022 2%
Membership Services/Trainee Coordinator	Incumbent	31.86	31.86	32.50	33.15
	New Hire	29.45	29.45	30.04	30.64
Communications	Incumbent	31.86	31.86	32.50	33.15
	New Hire	29.45	29.45	30.04	30.64
Production Services	Incumbent	N/A			
	New Hire	29.45	29.45	30.04	30.64
Reception/Membership Services Assistant	Incumbent	27.69	27.69	28.24	28.81
	New Hire	26.62	26.62	27.15	27.70
Office Admin	Incumbent	27.69	27.69	28.24	28.81
	New Hire	26.62	26.62	27.15	27.70
Controller	Incumbent	53.61	53.61	54.68	55.78
	New Hire	49.57	49.57	50.56	51.57
Assistant Business Agent	Incumbent	40.61	40.61	41.42	42.25
	New Hire	29.45	29.45	30.04	30.64
Accounting Assistant	Incumbent	31.86	31.86	32.49	33.14
	New Hire	26.62	26.62	27.15	27.70
	Incumbent	N/A			
Safety Coordinator	New Hire	30.00	30.00	30.60	31.21
	Incumbent	N/A			
Training Coordinator	New Hire	29.45	29.45	30.04	30.64

- Seniority increase (SI) after 12 months service in one position of 4%.
- SI increase after 60 months service in one position of 4%.
- Annual one cent cost of living adjustment (COLA) for each .073, or portion change in the 1986 CPI. Minimum COLA is zero. Maximum COLA is \$0.20. COLA will accumulate from June 1 to May 31 of each year, and the COLA adjustment will occur every July.

Between IATSE LOCAL 669 And UNIFOR LOCAL 3000

RE: SECURITY ISSUES

The Parties agree that the security issues raised by the Union in bargaining, such as security buzzers and door locks, stairwell cameras, monitors and/or electric-eye type systems will be dealt with through the Joint Health and Safety Committee and furthermore will be expeditiously implemented by the Employer where reasonably required for the safety and protection of employees.

FOR THE EMPLOYER: ICG Local 669 FOR THE UNION: Unifor Local 3000

Amanda Trimble, President

Wendy Newton Bargaining Committee

Jessica Moskal, Treasurer

Sharon Lover Bargaining Committee

Ellen-Marie Moreira Local 3000 Representative

Ben Williams Unifor National Representative

Between IATSE LOCAL 669 And UNIFOR LOCAL 3000

RE: JURISDICTION OF WORK AND CLASSIFICATONS

The Union hereby agrees that all work relating to the IATSE 667/669 Health and Welfare Fund will be outside of the existing Unifor certification and jurisdiction. The Employer hereby agrees it will not unilaterally seek to remove work or classifications from the bargaining unit.

It is agreed between the Parties that the existing benefits package will remain status quo, but, either or both Parties shall endeavor to research the market for an equal but less costly benefits plan.

FOR THE EMPLOYER: ICG Local 669 FOR THE UNION: Unifor Local 3000

Wendy Newton

Amanda Trimble, President

Jessica Moskal, Treasurer

Bargaining Committee

Sharon Lover Bargaining Committee

Ellen-Marie Moreira Local 3000 Representative

Ben Williams Unifor National Representative

Between IATSE LOCAL 669 And UNIFOR LOCAL 3000

RE: TRAINING COORDINATOR AND SAFETY COORDINATOR

 This letter will confirm that the Unifor Local 3000 and IATSE Local 669 agree that Article 7.03 Regular Work Week shall normally be applied to the positions of Training Coordinator and Safety Coordinator except as follows:

an altered work week, comprised of different days to the regular work week, may be instituted by the Employer if the Employer, shop steward and affected employee all agree to such altered work week.

- 2. The Parties agree that Article 7 shall continue to apply to the Training Coordinator and/or Safety Coordinator while working an altered work week except as follows:
 - (a) Article 7.01 dealing with working hours as being between 09:00 and 17:00 shall not apply; and
 - (b) Article 7.03 shall not apply;
 - (c) Article 7.04 shall only apply in the event the Training Coordinator and/or Safety Coordinator works more than 8 hours or 11 hours, respectively, in one day;
 - (d) Article 7.05 shall only apply if the work on the Saturday or Sunday is in excess of forty (40) hours in one week. It is agreed that, for the purposes of devising an altered work week, the Employer and employee must mutually agree on two (2) consecutive days off other than Saturday or Sunday as the employee's days off during such week.
- 3. The Employer shall endeavour to provide as much notice as possible to the Training Coordinator and/or Safety Coordinator of its intention to invoke an altered work week pursuant to paragraph 1, above.

Signatures for LOU #3

FOR THE EMPLOYER: ICG Local 669

Amanda Trimble, President

FOR THE UNION: Unifor Local 3000

Wendy Newton Bargaining Committee

Jessica Moskal, Treasurer

Sharon Lover Bargaining Committee

Ellen-Marie Moreira Local 3000 Representative

.

Ben Williams Unifor National Representative

Between IATSE LOCAL 669 And UNIFOR LOCAL 3000

RE: SHARON LOVER – VACATION ENTITLEMENT

This letter will confirm that Unifor Local 3000 and IATSE 669 agree that Sharon Lover shall be entitled to fifty-one (51) paid vacation days per year in addition to annual vacation entitlement per Clause 9.03.

Such vacation shall be taken at a time mutually agreed upon with the Employer and shall not be unreasonably denied.

The Parties agree that this side letter does not alter any other provisions of the Collective Agreement.

FOR THE EMPLOYER: ICG Local 669 FOR THE UNION: Unifor Local 3000

Amanda Trimble, President

Wendy Newton Bargaining Committee

Jessica Moskal, Treasurer

Sharon Lover Bargaining Committee

Ellen-Marie Moreira Local 3000 Representative

.

Ben Williams Unifor National Representative

Between IATSE LOCAL 669 And UNIFOR LOCAL 3000

RE: UPDATING JOB DESCRIPTIONS AND WAGE ADJUSTMENTS

The Parties agree to periodically review and update job descriptions for all positions and classifications. Where there is a significant change in job content of any classification, either Party may argue a wage adjustment is warranted. Only changes to job duties that take place after January 1, 2017 will be considered. When this is the case, the following language will apply:

New or Re-Classified Positions

Any position not covered by Appendix "A", or any new position that may be established during the life of this Collective Agreement, or where there is a significant change in job content of any classification, will be subject to negotiations between the Employer and the Union. In the event that the Parties are unable to agree as to the classification and rate of pay for the job in question, or in re-classifying any position of any employee that may be in dispute, the matter may be submitted to the arbitration procedure, as defined in Article 19 of this Collective Agreement.

This LOU comes into effect June 1, 2018.

FOR THE EMPLOYER: ICG Local 669 FOR THE UNION: Unifor Local 3000

Amanda Trimble, President

Wendy Newton Bargaining Committee

Jessica Moskal, Treasurer

Sharon Lover Bargaining Committee

Ellen-Marie Moreira Local 3000 Representative

Ben Williams Unifor National Representative

Controller JOB DESCRIPTION

Accounting Duties:

- A/P, A/R and cheque preparation
- Per capita stamp reconciliation
- Banking
- GST filings
- Staff payroll
- Preparation of T4 and T4A's
- Bank reconciliations
- Review and reconciliation of CC charges and expense reports
- General ledger maintenance/reconciliation
- Preparation of audit working papers and liaise with external auditor
- Dues invoicing and tax receipts
- Monitor dues deducted and refund dues in excess of cap
- Expulsion of members due to non-payment of dues
- Petty cash reconciliation and control
- Respond to member and other enquiries
- Prepare H&W database reconciliation and reporting
- Reconcile RSP bank account to database
- Release of production bonds (ensure production has paid all fringes in accordance with contract)
- Randomly review dues deductions to ensure accuracy
- Contract fringe and rate review and enforcement/liaise with payroll & production companies
- Perform production payroll audits as requested
- Implement payment plans for arrears members as requested
- Prepare monthly cash flow statements and commentary
- Review staff EHB plan
- Liaise with CRA

Financial Management/Other:

- Maintain internal control systems/safeguarding of assets
- Risk Management (ex. insurance)
- Assist in business/operational decisions
- Assist in policy and procedure development
- Cost control
- Cash flow and working capital management
- Budget preparation, analysis and maintenance
- Treasury, investing and investment review
- Assist BA with HR functions including distribution of work
- Attend executive and other meetings as requested
- Filemaker database maintenance and query writing
- Preparation of ad-hoc reports/info as required
- Designated Privacy Officer
- Staff EHB Plan Administrator
- Manage building operations including liaise with Property Manager/sit on Strata Council

Production Services Coordinator/Receptionist JOB DESCRIPTION

Production Services Coordinator Duties:

- Create, maintain, update and ensure all production files complete electronic (subdirectory under F:/production files), hard copy and in database for all new productions
 - Maintain files of all call sheets by production contact production for missing call sheets
 - o Ensure all deal memos and timesheets on file for every active and wrapped production
 - Review deal memos and ensure scale rate on deal memo is equal to or greater than scale rate per contract-forward any discrepancy to Controller
- Assist productions with crewing by sending out resumes and information (remain nonpreferential)
- Send out demo reels and monitor level of reels on file-inform member if low
- Email/ fax production and rumours list, membership list and avails upon request
- Create membership list and upload to website
- Upload 667 production list to 669 website (Thursdays)
- Process Day Call line-1675; prepare Short Term Availability List; post to website and fax to all productions (Fridays)
- Update DOP Agents listing (F:/avails/DOP agents) and upload to website
- Prepare Weekly Production and Rumour Lists (Monday):
 - Information for the list is obtained by calling all productions on the list updating dates, crew, hiatus', and further additions/deletions
 - Obtain additional information from Production Weekly, Agents, BC Film Commission List, BC Council of Film Unions, Alberta Film Commission, and contacting BC & Prairie film union offices
 - Meet with Business Agent every Friday for Production and Membership updates
 - Up-load the production list onto the IATSE 669 Website
- Prepare Long Term Availability list (Monday):
 - Update with changes (automatically updates with Production List; or manual changes can be added or deleted)
 - Add any notes beside the member's name, such as: availability details, equipment specialties, shows outside of 669 list, foreign eligibility, & other.
- Process and Track Production Work Permit Requests:

Upon receipt of the request the following procedure would apply:

- Receive the original request form and distribute copies to Business Agent, President, Membership Committee and Department MAL
- If required by 669, request from the Production a resume, reel (if applicable), any information on awards or nominations, any information on prior working relationships with Producer, Director etc., include any Union affiliations.
- Send any correspondence to the Committee and Member at Large ASAP, including in the cover letter any relevant discussion regarding the request.
- For Guaranteed Permits (Article 3.02) please fax the Committee indicating that the attached is a Guaranteed Permit. The BC Council of Film Unions should be notified in writing regarding Guaranteed Permit requests.

Production Services Coordinator/Receptionist JOB DESCRIPTION (continued)

- Respond back to the requesting Production no later than 5 working days, otherwise the permit will be deemed granted.
- If approved, type up a letter to immigration giving the full legal name, category and the dates that the permit is approved for.
- Have the person permitted fill out and sign an IATSE 669 permit form, have BA sign it and fax a copy along with the immigration letter to the production.
- Copy completed package of all correspondence to production file and permit file
- Copy of the Immigration letter to Accounting (Sharon will send out the invoice to the Production for non-IATSE affiliated permittees.)
- Add permit information into permit tracking excel spreadsheet file F:/permits/permit tracking.xls
- Permit Analysis track permits applied for, permits granted and permits denied including detail as to type of permit (3.02 or 3.03), status of permittee (600 member, non-union, etc), permit category (dp, op, dp/op, stills, etc), type of production, estimated budget, employer affiliation (AMPTP, etc)

-data can be manipulated and analysed and to be used for negotiations and general information

New Employer/Production Orientation:

As soon as we are aware of a new production, send the PM a package including:

- o a production information sheet (for them to complete and return)
- o 669 deal memos
- Membership list
- Short term and long-term avails lists
- Non-BCCFU shows copy of applicable agreement and rates
- An information sheet on where they can find information relating to the 669 membership (website re: sta and Ita, production list, etc.)

As soon as a deal is signed:

- Copy of the deal should be faxed to the camera department on set so they are aware of the rates and any variances
 - Non-BCCFU Collection and tracking of production bonds

Reception Duties:

- Maintains "First Impression" responsibility to represent the Union well to Members, visitors and callers
- Conducts general reception including greeting Members and visitors pleasantly and professionally, politely elicit reasons for the visit, directing people courteously to appropriate personnel, and providing general information about the Union
- Responsible for maintaining a clean and professional appearance of reception area
- Check to <u>camera@ia669.com</u> e-mail messages, reply and distribute accordingly
- Check phone messages on 1690 line password 5309.

Production Services Coordinator/Receptionist

JOB DESCRIPTION (continued)

- Answering all the phone and email inquiries regarding Membership, contact information for the Members, Union and Guilds or forward questions to appropriate person
- Courier as needed (FedEx, VIP Courier)
- Distribute the Daily Faxes
- Address/ Labels/Mail Outs (as needed) ex.'s Invoices, Receipts, Newsletter, Deal Memo
- Make sure there is plenty of Contracts (Master agreements, Collective agreements, Constitutions, Application packages, Paper) -- printed on demand and kept electronically
- Make sure copier, printers, and fax machines are full of paper
- Order office supplies as needed
- Filing, Daily mail pick up and drop off, Empty recycle bins
- On Statutory holidays send Office Closed notice to the Members, productions, change the Voice message and update the information on the web site
- Maintain shared office calendar–enter everyone's schedules in Outlook accessible to everyone in the office (read-only) email admin with changes who is responsible for keeping schedules up to date and informing staff when changes have been made
- Notify Executive Board Members via email / phone about Executive Board Meetings/Call Executive Board members to ensure their attendance for the Executive Board meeting

Training Coordinator/Membership Services JOB DESCRIPTION

Membership Services:

- Inform applicants and upgrades of membership and Constitutional requirements
- Handle all paperwork relating to new members (ensure completeness)
- Forward information to MAL and Departmental Committee for review (part of agenda prep)
- Ensure copies of all member documentation and correspondence in/out (including relevant email) relating to member kept in their file

New Member Orientation:

Responsible for creating and updating "member orientation package"

- Package to include:
 - staff contact sheet with phone numbers and responsibilities,
 - o contact sheet of H&W and RSP provider phone numbers,
 - о **С&В**,
 - o master agreement
 - sample membership, production, sta and Ita lists
 - Instruction sheet including dues system, how to call in for avails, changing RSP %, where to find information (website, etc), who to call regarding specific issues, etc

Inform members of pledge requirement and arrange for new members to pledge at meetings.

Responsible for introducing new member to staff (RSP, Safety/Training, H&W, Accounting, BA) which each staff member to discuss area they are responsible for and to answer any questions the member may have.

International Reporting:

- Prepare quarterly per capita reports
- Correspond with International Secretary
- Type up Honourable withdrawal, membership and transfer cards
- Distribute membership stamps
- Send payments to IATSE with correspondence
- All other IATSE international reporting requirements

Safety Officer:

- Act as Occupational Health and Safety Officer
 - should be up to date on occupational safety and health standards, rules and WCB regulations so that they can instruct members in accordance with S. 12.04 of Master
 - Familiar with WCB requirements (should be able to tell members where to go and what to do if injured on set)
 - Act as 669 rep at S.H.A.P.E.-attend SHAPE meetings (generally monthly)
 - Liaise with on set Representative responsible for Safety

Training Coordinator/Membership Services JOB DESCRIPTION (continued)

- Write Safety related article for newsletter
- Act as steward for safety related set issues
- Also responsible for developing and implementing internal occupational health and safety policy

Training Coordinator:

- Facilitate member training with MAL of department
 - o Discuss training needs of department with MAL
 - Responsible for planning and logistics
 - -Arranging locations, equipment providers, insurance, food, etc.
- Liaise with members
 - o Act as point person for membership re: training requirements/desires
 - Correspond with members regarding upcoming training
 - Confirm attendance at training workshops/seminars
- Liaise with Equipment providers (ie. Panavision)
 - Likely to eliminate equipment/location fees if Panavision wants to showcase new cameras
- Prepare budget and set training fees, if any, accordingly
 - Research government grants or initiatives to cover costs of training
- Responsible for Trainees and running of the Trainee program

Trainees:

- Communicate & introduce the Trainees to the "Trainees & Procedures Manual" by way of a one on one orientation. Trainee's read the manual in the office, and the package is reviewed with the trainee for clarification.
- Keeping an updated roster of Trainees in BC & The Prairies
- Reviewing Trainees resume formatting and updates
- Update the Trainees on the data base productions
- Day Call and Rotation Trainee report cards are reviewed upon receipt (any bad reports should be faxed to the Trainee committee Member At Large)
- Files to be reviewed every 3 months (Letter should be sent to the Trainee notifying them that their file is now dormant to reactivate they will have to reapply)
- Assist the Training Supervisor with courses and changes made to forms and applications
- Arranging/Assisting the Trainee Committee (MAL)with Committee meetings and typing up minutes
- Relaying any unsatisfactory Trainee report cards and, or conduct to the Trainee Committee MAL for an Apprentice review meeting.

Placement of all Trainees:

- Keeping an updated production list of shows with assigned Trainees
- Placement of all Trainees are made in order of the roster & report card performances
- Ensure trainee status is accurately reflected in database

Training Coordinator/Membership Services JOB DESCRIPTION (continued)

- Ensure all trainees are up to date on quarterly fees-add fees to dues database for active trainees-ensure not in arrears before placement
- Trainees are on rotation for approx. 4-5 weeks (depending on total days of production)
- Fax the Production Office attention to the Production Manager and Camera Crew the Trainee rotation details which includes the following: The Trainee's name, rotation dates, contact numbers and a current resume
- Call Second Assistant with Trainee details

Other:

- Prepare newsletter article
- o Assist Controller with data entry and other duties as requested
- o Cover reception/production services-cross-trained in position
- o Other duties as assigned